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A few caveats: the term “restaurant,” as used here, is purposefully broad. A restaurant can be anything from a hole-in-the-wall storefront to an upscale, elegant establishment in its own building. But restaurants weren’t (and aren’t) the only places to get a meal. From ancient times, inns and taverns have offered food along with lodging and drink. Over the years, a great variety of eateries—cafés, coffee houses, tearooms, grills, snack bars, lunch counters, diners, burger joints, hot dog stands, drive-ins and drive-ups—have sprung up to tempt appetites. There’s not necessarily a clear distinction between these terms; in fact, individual businesses often changed their names to accord with the latest trends. For instance, Bob’s Café at 101 Main Street, as it was known five years ago, might be called Jimmy’s Diner today. Come back five years later, and it’s the Main Street Grill.

It’s not going to be possible to name all of the restaurants that have come and gone in Seattle; if they were all included, you would need a forklift to pick up this book. It’s inevitable that someone’s favorite restaurant will not have been mentioned. The objective is to illustrate the breadth and depth of Seattle’s restaurant history with equal time given to downtown eateries and to those found in its neighborhoods and along its thoroughfares. Downtown may be the center of Seattle’s universe, but that hub is surrounded by a constellation of neighborhoods. Many of them were once independent towns, and all of them have restaurant histories of their own. In fact, by the 1920s, the sheer number of neighborhood eateries outpaced what was available downtown.

Untangling the convoluted skein of Seattle restaurant ownership history, name and location changes and so on has been a challenge. The best efforts have been made to get things straight; if the intent hasn’t been met, it’s not for lack of trying.


Introduction

Seattle, the Emerald City: birthplace of Boeing and Bill Gates, home to Amazon, Starbucks and the Space Needle and a hotbed of innovative technology. Vibrant and alive, today, Seattle is considered one of the fastestgrowing, most densely populated urban areas in the country.

It wasn’t always so. In its early years, Seattle was just one of a dozen rain-swept settlements looking to become the commercial center of western Washington. Seattle wasn’t the first town on Puget Sound—that claim belongs to Newmarket (today’s Tumwater), the oldest permanent American settlement on the sound. Nor, for many years, was it the largest. For several decades after being settled, Seattle’s population lagged far behind that of Portland, Oregon, 150 miles south and its main competitor on the west side of the Cascade Mountains. Even landlocked Walla Walla—230 miles to the southeast and from its early days benefiting from inland trade with miners, emigrants and farmers in the rich Palouse country—boasted more residents than Seattle in 1880 (3,588 and 2,533, respectively).

The original inhabitants—the Duwamish tribe and their ancestors—had occupied the region for at least four thousand years when the first Europeans arrived. Archaeologists state that as many as seventeen distinct native villages could be found in immediate vicinity of Seattle, generally close to rivers, lakes or the saltwater bays and coves.

The early European explorers of the north Pacific coast came, looked and left; they weren’t interested in settling and generally spent little time in the area. In fact, the first mariners to visit the northern Washington coast—Spaniard Juan Pérez in 1774 and the renowned Englishman Captain James Cook in 1778—didn’t even discover the entrance to the Strait of Juan de Fuca and the vast inland sea of Puget Sound; that was left to Captain Charles William Barkley in 1787. The Spanish established a fort named Núñez Gaona at Neah Bay in 1792 but abandoned it after four months. That same year, Captain George Vancouver thoroughly explored Puget Sound; his expedition conferred place names that persist to this day.

Though a few hardy pioneers preceded them, Seattle’s birth is generally ascribed to a party of twenty-two men, women and children under the leadership of Arthur A. Denny who arrived at Alki Beach aboard the schooner Exact on November 13, 1851. In a short time, a village, pretentiously named New York, arose at the landing site. But the location lacked a deep-water harbor for mooring ships, so by mid-April 1852, most of the settlers had relocated to the eastern shore of Elliott Bay, about a mile away, which offered a better harbor. This new settlement was initially called Duwamps, for the local Duwamish tribe, but soon was renamed Seattle to honor Sia’hl, a Duwamish leader who had proven helpful to the early settlers. Chief Sealth, as he later became known, died in 1866.

By October 1852, Dr. David S. “Doc” Maynard had opened a store in the new town, and Henry Yesler was building a steam-powered sawmill, the first on Puget Sound, at the foot of Mill Street. The sawmill was a surefire business success given its surroundings—one early arrival observed that “the whole country around Seattle was a dense forest”—and logging rapidly became the mainstay of Seattle’s economic life. Logs felled in the surrounding hills were dragged or “skidded” along the rough path leading to Yesler’s mill. Legend has it that the path became known as Skid Road and eventually entered folklore as Skid Row, a term applied to the down-in-the-heels section of a city.

An 1860 description by Reverend Daniel Bagley, who arrived in Seattle with his wife, Susannah, in October that year, gives a picture of early Seattle. The town had 182 white residents. Commercial Street was four blocks long; its north end butted up against Yesler’s sawmill at the foot of Mill Street, and its south end “jumped off into the bay.” (Today, Mill Street is Yesler Way, and Commercial is First Avenue S.) Stores, hotels, saloons and shops clustered in a single row along Commercial between Mill and Main Streets; residences sprinkled the recently cleared hills above the shoreline. A few scattered farms could be found out in the woods. There were virtually no roads out of town—almost all travel was by water.
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Seattle has the appearance of a typical raw frontier town in this 1879 view looking north along Front Street. Seattle Public Library, spl_shp_15038.



Seattle was incorporated in 1869; the following year, the census revealed a population of 1,107. In the 1880s, the city experienced remarkable growth and, by the end of the decade, was approaching a population of 16,000. By 1889, Seattle had shed much of its rough-and-tumble frontier town appearance. With its streets becoming lined with substantial brick and wooden buildings, its hills covered with attractive residences, its booming status as a supply point for other Puget Sound towns and a population approaching 18,000, Seattle was maturing into a sizeable city.

It took less than a day to erase most of it.

On the afternoon of June 6, 1889, a pot of glue boiled over onto the floor of a woodworking shop at the corner of Front and Madison Streets. The floor was covered with wood chips and turpentine, which immediately caught fire. Soon, the entire shop was ablaze. In a stroke of bad luck, the shop’s two neighbors were saloons; once the fire spread to them, exploding bottles of alcohol added to the blaze and the entire block of Front Street between Madison and Marion was an inferno. By late afternoon, it was clear that downtown Seattle was doomed—inadequate water supply, hydrants placed too far apart and insufficient water pressure combined to make the fire unstoppable. Several buildings were dynamited in an effort to create firebreaks, but it did no good.

The fire burned until three o’clock the next morning, destroying anything combustible in its path. By the time it was over, twenty-nine city blocks—virtually all of downtown—were a smoking ruin, along with the railroad depots, most of the wharves and several nearby mills. The loss was estimated as high as $20 million (current value: about half a billion dollars). Among the casualties was the splendid Occidental Hotel, valued at $350,000 in 1889 dollars. (The year 1889, in which Washington became a state, also saw devastating fires at Cheney in April, Ellensburg in July and Spokane in August.)

By June 7, Seattle business leaders were already planning the city’s recovery. Tent restaurants were set up to feed the hungry and shelters erected for the homeless. Rebuilding began almost immediately, with major changes made to the city’s building code—no wooden buildings would be allowed in the burned-out area.

City engineers took advantage of the situation to fill in perpetually muddy streets to a depth of eight feet or more, with the second floors of surviving buildings becoming the new street-level entrances. The original street-level entries of businesses became buried, unintentionally creating a future tourist attraction. Half a century later, Seattle Underground began giving visitors the chance to tour some of the original storefronts.
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The Southern Restaurant opened in a tent soon after the June 6, 1889 fire. University of Washington Special Collections, SEA1201.



Several other major events shaped Seattle’s growth. Gold was discovered in Canada’s Yukon Territory in 1896. The following year, when the steamship Portland arrived in Seattle with a ton of gold aboard, the city came down with a serious case of gold rush fever. As the gateway to the Yukon gold fields, Seattle’s economy boomed; when miners returned (some successful, some not), many stayed in the city. By 1900, the city’s population had reached nearly eighty-one thousand, nearly double the 1890 number.

A major earth-moving project known as the Denny Regrade saw several of Seattle’s hills sluiced into Elliott Bay. The hills had been an obstacle to business growth north of the original downtown; the material filled in low areas south of the business district and created Harbor Island at the mouth of the Duwamish River. In 1909, the city hosted the Alaska-Yukon-Pacific Exposition to show itself off; people from all over the country came to visit, and many of them decided to call Seattle home. That same decade, Seattle annexed a number of neighborhoods that had once been independent towns—Ballard, Georgetown and West Seattle, among others—and by 1910, the city’s geographical area had nearly doubled, with the population topping 200,000. Seattle was on its way to becoming a world-class city.

A LAND OF ABUNDANT RESOURCES

Logging may have been early Seattle’s primary industrial reason for existence, but it wasn’t the only one. In addition to trees, the region abounds in edible natural resources, and Seattle, sitting as it is on the edge of a great inland sea, wasn’t long in exploiting them.

Fishing was important on Puget Sound as early as 1852, when salmon from the Duwamish River were being caught and packed for the San Francisco trade. Doc Maynard opened a salmon salting plant in 1853, starting a twenty-year tradition of Indians doing the fishing (mostly from local rivers) and whites doing the salting, packing and selling of the catch.

By the 1880s, river fishing was being replaced by open-water purse seining, resulting in an increased supply of fish for packers and, more importantly, justifying the need for canneries. Seattle emerged as the area fisheries center, as V.E. Tull moved his fish-pickling plant from Mukilteo to Seattle and Jackson, Myers & Company built the first local cannery in West Seattle. The Myers cannery burned in 1888 and again in 1891; reorganized as the Myers Packing Company, the firm built its own factory for manufacturing cans at the foot of Dearborn Street. Even with a capacity of making 40,000 cans per day, the cannery outstripped the supply of cans, as a crew of twenty whites, eighty Chinese and Japanese and an unstated number of women and girls packed 1,284 cases of locally caught fish per day.

Nonetheless, Seattle didn’t become a leader in the salmon-canning industry. It took development of the deep-sea fisheries off Alaska and advances in refrigeration technology to catapult Seattle into the lead as a major fishing center. As early as 1888, boats laden with salmon, halibut and cod were plying the waters between Alaska and Seattle, but keeping the fish fresh in transit was an issue. By the mid-1890s, though, the problem was solved, and fresh fish were being efficiently transported not only on boats from the fishing grounds back to Seattle but also via railroad cars to markets all over the country. As is usually the case, improvements in technology led to increases in production. In 1890, 250,000 pounds of halibut were shipped; by 1896, the number had risen to 1,500,000 pounds.

Shellfish was also a major part of the seafood industry. Crabs, clams, oysters and mussels were harvested and shipped far and wide. Native oysters from Willapa Bay on the southern Washington coast were being shipped to San Francisco by 1851. In 1899, Eastern oysters were transplanted with success at Puget Sound and along the ocean. By 1910, the Puget Sound oyster beds produced five thousand sacks of oysters of excellent quality, and Washington oysters had become a regular menu item up and down the West Coast and inland as far as Denver.

Farming, however, was a different matter. Relatively little open land was available for farming when the first settlers arrived in Seattle. One such area was along the lower Duwamish River near present-day Georgetown, and by 1853, L.M. Collins’s farm there was growing crops—“turnips weighing from twenty-three to thirty-five pounds each, potatoes as much as four pounds each, and onions two pounds each”—and also raising and selling apple, plum and cherry trees. By the 1880s, farms were popping up along the eastern shore of Lake Washington and other cleared areas.

Farming was key to the stable development and growth of the area; said one early writer, “Without farming there would not be large growth in other lines.” But farming required timber to be removed and stumps to be pulled before crops could be grown, and in the immediate Seattle area, land was used for business and residences for the growing city as fast as it was cleared. Gradually, the rate of land clearing outpaced development, making small-scale farming possible; but then came troubles with the local tribes in 1855, which had a chilling effect on farm development. It’s hard to envision today, but settlers living just outside the little settlement lived in fear of imminent attack by the Indians. The cause for the trouble was the usual: relations between white settlers and the tribes, initially friendly, deteriorated as immigrant arrivals increased and pushed the natives off their lands. The war—more like a skirmish—was part of a general uprising by the Puget Sound tribes and put down within year, with the tribes being on the losing side.

After peace was achieved, farms began to appear among the newly logged lands. But large-scale farming and ranching were almost out of the question. A search of 1860s Seattle newspapers finds scarcely a mention of the word “ranch,” and virtually all early farms were small truck gardens producing enough for local needs with a bit to spare to ship to other markets. Many foodstuffs—whatever couldn’t be sourced or grown locally—needed to be imported. This was particularly true for grain and livestock. Western Washington is too wet to support raising grain, and though individual farms certainly raised livestock such as cattle, pigs and chickens, not enough land was available to make it practical for large herds of cattle. Prices published in a September 1864 issue of the Seattle Gazette reflect the cost of living: potatoes were seventy-five cents per bushel; onions, two and a half cents per pound; cheese, twenty-five cents per pound; eggs, fifty cents per dozen; and butter, forty-five cents per pound. (One dollar in 1865 is about twenty-six dollars today.)

The coming of the railroads dramatically changed the transportation scene. By the 1890s, railroads—up and down the coast as well as transcontinental—linked Seattle to markets for its products. No longer did goods need to be moved solely by steamship, though the transpacific market soon became (and continues to be) a pillar of Seattle’s economy. Then came the automobile and good roads, the federal highway system and the interstates, long-haul truckers and jetliners capable of handling huge amounts of freight. Whatever the dominant mode of transportation, Seattle has been at the center of it.


1

Pioneer Days

The idea of a restaurant as a self-contained, stand-alone business with chairs and tables, a service staff and a fixed menu is a relatively new concept. Opinions vary, but the consensus seems to be that the idea originated in late eighteenth-century France and gradually took hold in other countries. The first genuine restaurant in America, claimed to be Delmonico’s in New York City, wasn’t founded by John and Peter Delmonico until 1837.

Seattle’s earliest eateries were often merely an adjunct to another business such as a boardinghouse, hotel or saloon. There doesn’t seem to have been much difference between a boardinghouse and a hotel in the 1860s; the variations were qualitative (price and amenities) and quantitative (length of stay). In practical terms, they operated on the same principle: providing a lodging place and, optionally, meals. If offered, meals were usually on the European plan (covered in the overall cost of lodging) and almost always table d’hôte—whatever the kitchen was cooking that night, that’s what you got.

It’s generally agreed that the cookhouse at Henry Yesler’s sawmill was the first public eating place in Seattle. Built in 1853, the cookhouse was originally intended for Yesler’s millworkers but before long became the town’s meeting hall, courthouse, jail, military headquarters, storehouse, hotel and church, as well as for a number of years “the only place along the east shore of the Sound where comfortable entertainment could be had.”

The cookhouse, with its “weather-worn roof and smoke-blackened walls,” was the domain of Yesler’s wife, Sarah. It’s not recorded what was on the cookhouse’s menu, but if it was anything like its contemporaries in other cities, it wasn’t haute cuisine. When it was demolished in 1866—the last remaining log building in downtown Seattle—the Puget Sound Weekly waxed nostalgic:


It was simply a dingy-looking hewed-log building about 25 feet square, a little more than one story high with a shed addition in the rear, and to strangers and new-comers was something of an eye-sore.…No man ever found the latch-string of the cook-house drawn in, or went away hungry from the little cabin door; and many an old Puget-Sounder remembers the happy hours, jolly nights, strange encounters, and wild scenes he has enjoyed around the broad fireplace and hospitable board of Yesler’s cook-house.



There is some disagreement about its location, but the best information places it on the west side of Commercial Street on the second lot south of Mill Street (today those streets are First Avenue S and Yesler Way). Once located nearly on Seattle’s original waterfront, today the site is over six hundred feet inland.
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Yesler’s cookhouse, as it looked in 1866, the last log building in pioneer Seattle. University of Washington Special Collections, SEA1352.



Also dating to 1853 was Seattle’s first true hotel, the Felker House, a two-story structure facing the water at the corner of Front and Jackson Streets. It was built by Captain Leonard Felker, a business partner of town father Doc Maynard but not a resident of Seattle. (San Francisco was his home.) Prefabricated back east and shipped around Cape Horn on Felker’s brig the Franklin Adams, when assembled, it was hailed as “the first hard-finished house in the place…two-story, framed, and finished within in lath and plaster.”
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The Felker House, Seattle’s first real hotel, stood at Jackson and Front Streets. SPL, spl_ shp_22965.



It was for a time a comfortable and respectable public house. But in the mid-1850s, one Mary Ann Conklin arrived in Seattle; the story is that she had sailed with her husband, Captain David Conklin, on his whaling ship to the waters off Alaska until he tired of her constant nagging and abandoned her in Port Townsend. Whatever the case, Mary Ann Boyer (having reverted to her original name) was soon presiding over the Felker House. Though it was said she ran an efficient hotel with clean rooms and good cooking (and a brothel upstairs), Boyer soon acquired the nickname “Mother Damnable” for her ferocious temper and ability to curse like a sailor in six languages: English, French, German, Portuguese, Chinese and Spanish. The Felker House’s reputation took a downward turn, though it continued to hang on in spite of competition from newer, more sophisticated hotels until it was destroyed in the great fire of 1889.

Details of Seattle’s first ten years of commercial life are sketchy (the first newspaper didn’t appear until 1863), but it’s believed that L.C. Harmon was operating a hotel—possibly called the Union—in 1860. Manuel Lopes, an 1852 arrival and the city’s first black resident, was in charge of the kitchen. By 1864, Harmon had removed to the new, aptly named Seattle Hotel on Main Street between Commercial and Second Streets. Whether Lopes (sometimes spelled Lopez) accompanied him isn’t known.

De Lin’s hotel on Commercial Street also dates from this early period. Proprietor A.P. De Lin offered “comfortable rooms, good beds and a table always supplied with the best of every thing the market affords.”

At the same time, the first of a series of Occidental Hotels opened on a triangular piece of ground at the junction of Mill and Commercial Streets. The original hotel, a wooden structure, was advertised as a “first class house” by proprietors M.R. Maddocks, John S. Condon and Amos Brown. “The culinary department is under the management of an experienced cook, and the table will always be supplied with the best in the market,” said the same ad. By 1867, the Occidental had undergone three changes of ownership; under the management of A.S. Miller, six dollars bought room and board for a week. The wooden building was replaced by a grand brick structure in 1883; destroyed in the great fire of June 1889, it was soon rebuilt.

David Sires’s What-Cheer House opened in 1865. Renamed the Sires Hotel later that same year, it was among the first Seattle hotels to operate on what it called the “restaurant principle.” Though meals were at fixed hours—breakfast from 6:00 to 11:00 a.m., lunch from noon to 2:00 p.m. and dinner from 6:00 to 8:00 p.m.—persons arriving by boat were accommodated at all hours. The hotel boasted that “the table will always be supplied with the best the market affords, prepared and served up by an experienced cook.” Sires didn’t stay long in Seattle; in 1866, he moved to Port Townsend, a growing town forty miles to the northwest on the Olympic Peninsula, and operated the Pioneer Hotel there for many years.

By the 1870s, change was in the wind. Some hotels, such as the New England Hotel (run by the same L.C. Harmon who was in business in 1860) and the American House, continued to operate on the European plan. Newspaper ads, however, show that some hotels were starting to separate the businesses of serving meals and providing lodging. Also, by that time the idea of a restaurant as a distinct and separate business was starting to catch on. The Central Hotel, for instance, advertised lodging and meals separately: twenty-five cents per day for each.

Among the first to be billed as such was Matthias Monet’s Seattle Restaurant and Coffee Saloon in 1864. Monet, an African American, arrived in Seattle from Oregon and was soon in business opposite Yesler, Denny and Company’s store on Commercial Street. In his newspaper ads, he stated, in the flowery language of the day, that due to his “long experience in the culinary art, he hopes to give general satisfaction, and to merit a share of the public patronage.” By 1865, he had changed the restaurant’s name to the Connoiseur’s Retreat Oyster Saloon and Chop House and had taken on William Hedges as a business partner. The partnership didn’t last long; by 1866, Monet was back to being the sole proprietor. He opened a hotel, the Railroad House, in 1869. It was apparently still in business at the time of the 1889 fire.
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The elegant Italianate-style Occidental Hotel, as it looked circa 1885. Author’s collection.
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An 1865 ad for Matthias Monet’s Connoiseur’s Retreat. Seattle Weekly Gazette.



Restaurants sprang up at a rapid pace in the 1870s. The North Pacific Chop House and Coffee Saloon opened in 1872, offering chicken, ham and eggs, pig’s feet, oysters and sardines at all hours—day and night—at fifteen cents and up. Owners M. Walker and A. Castro promised to always have on hand “meats and fish of every description, the best variety the market affords.” Two restaurants with similar names—the Bank Exchange and the American Exchange—were in competition with each other the following year. William Rickards, who appears frequently in notices of early Seattle restaurants, had been associated with the Bank Exchange, a saloon-turned-restaurant; in 1873, he set himself up in business as the American Exchange, “a fine restaurant and oyster saloon for ladies.” It’s not explicitly stated but apparently understood that ladies did not venture into restaurants—let alone saloons—of that day, so Rickards’s establishment of a female-friendly eating place was unusual.

William Grose (sometimes spelled Gross) opened Our House Restaurant in August 1876. Grose, an African American born in Washington, D.C., had arrived in Seattle in 1861; his wife, Sarah, and daughter Rebecca joined him soon after, becoming Seattle’s first female black residents. Grose’s restaurant/boardinghouse on Mill Street advertised meals and beds for twenty-five cents each. A successful businessman (he also owned a barbershop and dealt in real estate), Grose was the city’s wealthiest black resident by the 1890s.

Manuel Lopes, Matthias Monet and William Grose were some of the earliest of Seattle’s black restaurateurs but not the only ones. In 1889, John Randolph opened a café after the fire, and James Orr followed suit in 1890. In the 1890s, Thomas C. Collins and Allen Dean operated Collins and Dean’s Restaurant, and two black women, Olivia Washington and Elizabeth Thorne, managed successful cafés on the eastern edge of the city.

The Saddle Rock Chop House and the Puget Sound Refreshment Room made their appearance in 1877. Van Wie & Knudson of the Saddle Rock Chop House (“chop house” was the common name for what we would today call a steakhouse or grill) promised “the best of fare on short notice.” Charles Keil took over in the following year and upgraded the name to the Saddle Rock Restaurant. It was located on Commercial Street. The name is a bit of a puzzle since there’s no geographic place called Saddle Rock in the vicinity of Seattle.
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The Saddle Rock Restaurant opened in 1877 and was rebuilt after the June 6, 1889 fire. Choir’s Pioneer Directory.



Trumpeted the Puget Sound Refreshment Room, “Ye Strangers! and all who feel weak and want to be restored! Know Ye! That you can have your spirits resuscitated, and the inner man satisfied” by visiting that restaurant, where “steaks, chops, and all the delicacies of the season are served in the best New York style,” along with fresh candies and fine cakes.

The Maison Doree Restaurant also came along in 1877. Originally operated by Jacob Knudsen, it was sold to Horace Downs in 1879. A few years later, W.C. DeLong was running the Maison Doree lunch counter, “a first class chop house where anything desired will be cooked to order… Spanish style cooking a specialty.” By the time the restaurant took out a fullpage ad in the 1890 Seattle city directory, it clearly had pretensions of being upper-crust: R.J. Stahmann, the proprietor, declared the Maison Doree “the best appointed restaurant, strictly first-class, ladies’, gents’ and family restaurant in the city,” with catering for private dinners, receptions, weddings and a host of other special occasions a specialty. The menu featured “all kinds of fancy salads, cakes, pies, patties and ice cream,” and the service staff spoke French, German and Italian.

THE ALMIGHTY OYSTER

Whether the bivalves are boiled, broiled, steamed, roasted, fried or served in pies, soups or stews, people love oysters. Apparently we always have—the ancient Greeks and Chinese, among others, were noted oyster connoisseurs. They were considered an upper-class privilege in renaissance Europe, but by the eighteenth century, the common masses had developed a taste for them, the first public oyster bar opening in England in 1738.

In America, where the oldest oyster bar is the Union Oyster House (1826) in Boston, oysters have always been a class-neutral food. Found abundantly along the Atlantic and Pacific coasts, they were commonly served in taverns; oysters were viewed as cheap food to serve with beer and liquor. By midcentury, oyster bars, cellars, parlors and saloons had become common in towns throughout the country.

In 1862, the French government sent Lieutenant P. DeBroca to the United States to study the state of the oyster fisheries. In his report, DeBroca wrote:


This delicious article of food has become so necessary with every class of the population that scarcely a town in the whole country can be found without its regular supply. By means of railroads and water channels, oysters in the shell, or out of the shell, preserved in ice, in pickle, or canned, are carried even to the remotest parts of the United States.…It is considered one of the most common and cheap means of subsistence.



Luckily for the hungry masses, oysters generally traveled well. Early newspapers recount shipments of oysters by the wagonload from the Atlantic coast over the Allegheny Mountains. Oysters could be prepared for shipments in a variety of ways: canned (“tinned”), “spiced” (the oysters opened; boiled with spices such as nutmeg and black pepper; vinegar and oyster liquor added; and sealed tight in earthenware or glass vessels), salted or pickled in barrels or fresh in the shell—the preferred method, though packing to prevent spoilage was always a concern.

The decade of the 1870s found America in the grips of a full-blown oyster craze. It’s estimated that the total value of all U.S. fisheries in 1880 was $43 million, of which nearly a third—$13 million—was oysters. Americans were eating an average six hundred oysters a year, and the oyster beds along the Atlantic coast were being rapidly depleted.

Seattle and the West Coast weren’t immune to the craze. The oyster indigenous to the Pacific coast, Ostrea lurida (often called the Olympia oyster), had been a significant part of the local diet and economy since earliest times. Native Americans gathered oysters, ate them fresh or dried them and used them in trade. Even before Seattle came into being, the oyster trade between the Pacific Northwest and San Francisco was well underway.

Among the early centers of the oyster industry was Shoalwater Bay, today called Willapa Bay, a broad, shallow bay with long reaches of mudflats creating ideal conditions for shellfish. (The town of Oysterville, established in 1854 and the first county seat of Pacific County, sits near the Pacific entrance to Willapa Bay.) Oysters were first shipped from Shoalwater Bay to San Francisco, a city with an insatiable appetite for the mollusks, in 1850. The first shipment spoiled en route, but the next attempt succeeded and a market was born. The gathering was done by members of the local Chinook and Lower Chehalis tribes, who were paid one dollar in gold per bushel of oysters; the same bushel sold for seven dollars in San Francisco. The trip by schooner could take up to two weeks, and since nearly all oysters from the Northwest were shipped fresh, spoilage en route was a danger.

By the 1880s, native oyster beds, including Shoalwater Bay and those at the southern end of Puget Sound near Olympia, had been over-harvested. Experiments with transplanted oysters had proven successful in Chesapeake Bay and elsewhere back east; the oyster beds had nicely rebounded, and as the supply increased, much of the West Coast trade was lost to oysters shipped from the East. It took a few years for the idea of seeding local oyster beds to catch on in the Northwest. Late 1870s efforts to introduce the larger Pacific oyster from Japan finally proved practical in 1902, and by the 1920s, the beds were well on their way to recovery.

In Seattle, oysters seemed to be associated with saloons. The very first issue of the Seattle Gazette in December 1863 carried ads for two such places.

The Exchange Saloon, established in 1858 on Commercial Street and run by A.G. Terry & Company, described itself as “a quiet and pleasant resort for the public” that served wines, liquors, ale and cider with fresh oysters kept on hand at all times and “served in every style.” At A.B. Rabbeson’s Fashion Saloon, located next to Yesler and Denny’s store, W.J. Burns operated an oyster stand that sold hot coffee, cakes and oysters “in every style” (which seemed to be a popular phrase of the day). By 1866, the oyster stand had been taken over by R.R. Smith, who, besides selling prepared oysters to the saloon’s customers, also sold them fresh from the boat to hotels, restaurants and private families.

In 1865, J. Summers opened an oyster stand in Thayer’s Saloon on Commercial Street and promised a good supply of fresh oysters, “in readiness to serve them up in very desirable style.” The Gem Saloon on Commercial Street sold oysters, as did the saloon of L.J. Keach in 1871. In 1876, the Puget Sound Confectionery Store boasted that it had served 5 million oysters the past season. Considering that Seattle’s population was about 2,500 at the time, each man, woman and child in town consumed about 2,000 oysters that year if the claim were true. Piper’s Saloon opened in August 1877, advertising oysters “served in a No. 1 Style” almost daily before abruptly disappearing six months later. (By 1882, the oyster saloon had morphed into Piper’s Ice Cream Restaurant.)

A PERIOD OF GROWTH

The restaurant boom continued into the 1880s. The Wisconsin Restaurant, Daniel Pfieffer’s Seattle Restaurant, Wright’s Bakery and Restaurant, the Aldus Restaurant and the Dirigo Chop House, among many others, all opened early in that decade. Many were oriented toward the working class, though a few of higher refinement (basically meaning family-oriented) started to appear.

Frank Telle opened the Seattle Restaurant in 1876 at the rear of the Seattle Saloon. A few years later and with a new owner, Daniel A. Pfieffer, it relocated to Mill Street near the steamboat landing. Mrs. Pfieffer was in charge of the dining room, where meals were twenty-five cents a day; overnight lodging was the same price. J. McConville’s Wisconsin Restaurant, on Mill Street near Occidental Square, also provided room and board for forty cents a day. Mrs. M.J. Wright offered both meals and baked goods (wedding cakes were a specialty) at her bakery and restaurant.
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The Occidental Hotel, in ruins the day after the great fire. Seattle Public Library, spl_ shp_23112.



One of the relatively few high-class restaurants of the time was the Brunswick, located in the hotel of the same name. Owned by William Henry Tointon, the Brunswick served refined fare such as soups, salads and fish. By 1888, the Brunswick restaurant had been supplanted by the Delmonico, which modestly advertised itself as “the best in the city, and [having] no superior in Washington Territory. As a family restaurant it is simply perfect, having a family saloon or ladies ordinary.” The Delmonico was under the management of William Rickards, who by that time had been involved in Seattle restaurants for nearly twenty years.

Sanborn’s insurance maps of 1888 show thirty-nine restaurants and six hotel dining rooms downtown, along with an astonishing fifty-eight saloons. Mill, Commercial and Washington Streets were lined with restaurants and saloons; on the lower part of Mill Street alone, twelve places vied to attract hungry and thirsty workers leaving their jobs at Yesler’s Wharf.

Within a year, they had all disappeared—victims of the great fire of 1889.

REBUILDING

While the city leaders looked at the fire as something of a blessing in ridding downtown of a helter-skelter growth of unplanned, unsanitary and flimsy wooden structures, it’s doubtful that all the businesspeople who lost to the flames would have agreed. Only a handful of the burned-out restaurants reappeared after the fire—the Saddle Rock, Delmonico and Maison Doree among them—and almost all of them were rebuilt in new locations.

Maison Doree, previously on Commercial Street, relocated to 1403 Union Street. The Saddle Rock Restaurant, also originally on Commercial, moved to 108 Main Street. The Delmonico relocated to 116 Pike Street and, in doing so, lost its connection with the Brunswick Hotel—a void soon filled by a new restaurant run by Roderick Chisholm.

Chisholm’s place, which he called the Delicate Esson Dining Palace, was one of dozens of eating establishments that had sprung up to take the places of those lost to the fire. The 1890 city directory listed over 100 restaurants (plus nearly 150 saloons). Chisholm also opened Chisholm’s Dairy Lunch at 905 Front Street, the former location of the Brunswick Restaurant. Another new restaurant was the Snohomish, owned by Margaret Isaacs and open day and night with private booths for ladies. The Orth House Restaurant was in the newly built Orth House, “a first class lodging house.” In his advertisements, proprietor S. Blackburn reiterated an unfortunate sentiment of the times: “None but white labor employed.”

Maison Barberis, formerly known as Maison Tortoni, moved into its James Street quarters in 1900 as a fine-dining restaurant with an attached quick lunch counter. Full-course dinners were served in elegant style in the main dining hall from 5:00 until 9:00 p.m. at a price ranging from fifty cents for a four-course dinner to one dollar for a twelve-course dinner, including wine. In addition to the main hall, twenty-five small rooms were available for banquets and private parties. The lunch counter was open day and night with quick service at moderate prices. The main restaurant and lunch counter shared the same kitchen, ensuring uniform quality at both places.

Another turn-of-the-century restaurant was the Poodle Dog at 208 Washington Street. Owned by S. Bisazza, its ads repeated many of the familiar phrases of its predecessors: the table was always supplied with the best the market afforded; oysters were available in every style; everything was new, neat and first-class; and private rooms were available for ladies. With so many restaurants claiming these lofty qualities, dining out in Seattle was in good hands as the new century began.

THE ALASKA-YUKON-PACIFIC EXPOSITION

Seattle threw a party in 1909 and invited the world to visit. The nominal reason was to celebrate the Yukon gold rush. It was originally scheduled to be held on the ten-year anniversary of that event in 1907, but a competing world’s fair, the Jamestown Exposition, led to it being pushed back a few years. In reality, the fair was Seattle’s way of announcing to the world that it was a major city and an economic powerhouse to be reckoned with.

The fair was held on the campus of the University of Washington, at that time still a forested area rather distant from downtown. The Olmsted brothers, famed landscape architects, laid out the grounds; buildings were designed by Howard and Galloway, a San Francisco architectural firm. Unlike more recent world’s fairs in which a multitude of countries erected exhibits, the A-Y-P’s only significant foreign contributors were Canada and Japan; everything else highlighted the Pacific Northwest, its industries, resources and scenic beauty.
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The Palm Cottage at the Alaska-Yukon-Pacific Exposition was in the Pay Streak, the entertainment section of the fair. University of Washington Special Collections, AYP570.




[image: images]

The fair’s Nikko Café was an authentic replica of a Japanese temple. University of Washington Special Collections, AYP576.



A citywide holiday was declared on the fair’s opening day, attended by at least eighty thousand people. It is claimed that William Boeing saw his first heavier-than-air flying machine while attending the fair as a teenager; his fascination with aircraft led to creation of the Boeing Airplane Company ten years later.

Of course, the fair had restaurants to serve the hungry crowds. Most were located in the fair’s entertainment area, the Pay Streak (a miner’s term for a rich vein of ore). There were ice cream and lemonade stands, the Vienna Café and the Washington Restaurant. Real estate dealer Corinne Simpson operated two places on the Pay Streak, the Oriental Café and the Palm Cottage Café. More elegant was the Nikko Café, a high-class restaurant designed as a replica of the famous Nikko Temple with dining rooms handsomely decorated by Japanese artists. Its proprietors were Yumeto Kushibiki and Shukich Kondo; J.R. Boldt, the manager, later went on to open Boldt’s Cafeteria in downtown Seattle.

After the fair ended, the University of Washington inherited the landscaped grounds and some of the buildings; though many of the structures were intended to be temporary, a few survived and were used by the university for a number of years. Only two of them—the Fine Arts Palace and the A-Y-P Women’s Building (now called Architecture Hall and Cunningham Hall, respectively)—remain today.
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Downtown

For a city with a population of over 650,000, Seattle has a compact central business district. Definitions vary, but the area—bounded by Jackson Street at the south end, Stewart Street on the north and First Avenue and the I-5 interstate west and east, respectively—takes up a relatively small sixty blocks. On the edges of these boundaries lie residential neighborhoods and industrial areas; beyond them are districts such as Ballard or West Seattle, which once existed as separate towns, many of them still preserving their own “downtown” areas; and then start the suburbs, where the bulk of Seattle’s residents live, with the attendant strip malls and shopping centers.
 
It’s important to recognize that until the 1960s and the rise of shopping malls on the outskirts of the city, downtown Seattle was a lively and vibrant place after work hours. Stores often stayed open until 9:00 p.m. on weekdays, as shoppers either remained in town after their workday was done or came into the city from outlying areas in pursuit of goods and services that their neighborhood merchants couldn’t supply. Theaters were another major draw, not to mention the nightlife of cabarets and shows and eateries of every variety—from humble take-away lunch counters to upscale, elegant dining rooms—that stayed open to attract hungry customers.

The traveling salesman stepping off the train at King Street Station circa 1910, the family cruising through the city along the new Pacific Highway in the ’30s, the visiting professor checking into her downtown hotel fresh from arriving at Boeing Field in 1951—none of them would have had a problem finding a place to eat within short walking distance and at practically any hour of the day or night. Numbers are hard to come by, but a rough estimate is that in 1940, First Avenue (just to pick one street) had nearly sixty restaurants of various types between Stewart Street and Olive Way. By the 1950s, the number was down a bit to about fifty; today, it’s probably less than two dozen (not including franchise take-away places). It’s a certainty that in the 1940s, downtown Seattle had more restaurants open all night and day (or at least until 2:00 or 3:00 a.m.) than it does today.

Like many other cities, Seattle is experiencing a resurgence of downtown living, as previously neglected areas are rediscovered and developed to appeal to those who don’t take to suburban life. Along with apartments and condos, restaurants are coming back to places they had long since left. But all things considered, Seattle has a long way to go to catch up to the multitude of cafés, restaurants, coffee shops, lunchrooms, confectioneries, soda fountains, burger joints and take-away places that downtown could boast of fifty years ago.

AFTER THE FIRE AND THE START OF A NEW CENTURY

One of the first restaurants established after the great fire was McGinty’s Chop House. Originally located down on the docks, by 1902, McGinty’s was on First Avenue, later moving to 224½ Pike before finally ending on the docks again by 1913. R.C. Byers was the owner, proprietor and cook. His small place—just eleven stools—drew customers from among the stevedores, truck drivers, ship hands and even captains and passengers who frequented the dock area. A bowl of stew at McGinty’s cost fifteen cents; clam chowder was just ten cents. Waffles, pancakes and pastries were also available.

Peter Hallberg, a native of Sweden, set foot in Seattle as a sailor in 1888. Deciding that life at sea wasn’t for him, he worked for three years at the Union Bakery on Pike Street before purchasing and running it as the Union Cafe and Bakery. By 1909, Hallberg had relocated up the block to 217 Pike, retaining the name, and in 1915, he opened a bakery under his own name at 511 Pine Street. After Hallberg passed away in 1922, the two operations were renamed Hallberg’s Bakery & Restaurant. The Pike Street location closed within a few years, but Hallberg’s on Pine kept serving up hearty meals for another four decades. When Hallberg’s closed in 1960, it was hailed as Seattle’s oldest restaurant (a claim disputed by Merchant’s Lunch in Pioneer Square, established in 1890 and still going strong today).

A 1930s menu gives a glimpse of Hallberg’s fare: five different cuts of steak, lamb and pork chops, prime rib, breaded veal or pork cutlets, grilled halibut and oysters served half a dozen different ways. Full dinners were available from 5:00 until 10:00 p.m. There were thirty different choices of entrée, including seafood, chicken, steaks and pork chops ranging in price from a low of $0.90 (potato pancakes with bacon and gravy) to $1.75 for a grilled top sirloin steak. Each dinner included chicken and rice, soup or clam chowder, apple perfection salad, shoestring or whipped potatoes, a vegetable and choice of dessert.

In 1899, soon after arriving in Seattle from Salt Lake City, the Manca brothers—Angelo and Victor—purchased a small storefront restaurant for $1,000.
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